

MILWAUXEE PEDESTRIAN PLAN

FINAL DRAFT | April 2019

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
Why Walkability?	4
Pupose of this Plan	6
Where are People Walking?	7
Guiding Principles	8
2. What We Heard	9
Community Engagement Activities	10
Common Themes	12
3. What are the Issues?	15
Safety	16
Sidewalks and Connectivity	24
Livability & Health	26
Funding and City Processes	28

4. Recommendations	31
Safety	33
Accessibility and Connectivity	44
Livability & Health	50
Maintenance & Operations	52
5. Pedestrian Safety Toolbox	59
Toolbox	60
Toolbox Using the Tools	60 77



Acknowledgments

City of Milwaukee

Mayor Tom Barrett

Common Council

Ald. Ashanti Hamilton, President Ald. Cavalier Johnson Ald. Nik Kovac Ald. Robert Bauman Ald. Nikiya Dodd Ald. Nikiya Dodd Ald. Milele A. Coggs Ald. Khalif Rainey Ald. Khalif Rainey Ald. Robert G. Donovan Ald. Chantia Lewis Ald. Michael J. Murphy Ald. Mark A. Borkowski Ald. Jose G. Perez Ald. Terry L. Witkowski Ald. Tony Zielinski Ald. Russell W. Stamper, II

Complete Streets Committee

Jeff Polenske, Commissioner of Public Works, (Chair)

Samir Amin, City Engineer

Rocky Marcoux, Commissioner of City Development

Thomas Mishefske, Commissioner of Neighborhood Services

Dennis Yaccarino, Department of Administration Budget and Management Director

Jeanette Kowalik, Commissioner, Health Department

Alfonso Morales, Milwaukee Police Chief

Anthony Perez, Executive Director, Housing Authority of the City Of Milwaukee

Willie Wade, President, Employ Milwaukee

Ald. Robert Bauman, Chair, Public Works Committee

Ald. Robert G. Donovan, Chair, Public Safety Committee

Ald. Khalif Rainey, Chair, Zoning, Neighborhoods and Development Committee

Andy Tillman, Chair, Bicycle & Pedestrian Task Force

Bicycle & Pedestrian Task Force

Andrew Tillman, Chair

Claude Krawczyk, Vice-Chair

Shirin Cabraal

Jessica Celella

Karen Dettmer, Department of Public Works

Caressa Givens

Kevin Kuschel, Department of City Development

Nicholas La Joie

Tatiana Maida

Daniel Roufus, Milwaukee Police Department

Angie Tornes

Department of Public Works

Jeff Polenske, Commissioner

Samir Amin, City Engineer

Laura Daniels, Director of Operations

Rollin Bertran, Engineer in Charge

Mike Amsden, Multimodal Transportation Manager

James Hannig, Pedestrian & Bicycle Coordinator

Marissa Meyer, Associate Transportation Planner

Kate Riordan, Associate Transportation Planner





Prepared By

Toole Design Group

Kevin Luecke, Project Manager John Dempsey, PLA Shailah Handy Tom Huber Mike Loughran, PE Evan Moorman Frank Proulx Megan Seib Brian Tang

University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

Dr. Robert Schneider

MILWAUKEE

PEDESTRIAN PLAN

Master of Urban Planning Students: Tony Giron, Kevin Kuschel, Cassandra Leopold, Chris Sandor

Funding Partners

US DOT Federal Highway Administration Wisconsin Department of Transportation

Special Thanks

City of Milwaukee Department of Administration City of Milwaukee Department of City Development City of Milwaukee Police Department City of Milwaukee Department of Health Milwaukee County Department of Transportation Milwaukee County Parks Milwaukee County Transit System Milwaukee Public Schools

Photo Credits

All photos by Toole Design or Dr. Robert Schneider unless otherwise noted.

Information contained in this document is for planning purposes and should not be used for final design of any project. All results, recommendations, concept drawings, and commentary contained herein are based on limited data and information, and on existing conditions that are subject to change.



THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK





1. Introduction

Milwaukee is a great place to walk. Every day, residents and visitors make millions of walking trips to run errands, travel to school and work, access transit and personal vehicles, exercise and stay healthy, and enjoy the outdoors. In many parts of the City, sidewalks are bustling, crosswalks are full, and paths and trails are frequently used by people walking and jogging.

Despite this activity, walking in Milwaukee can be challenging, particularly when crossing streets. People walking are exposed to high vehicle speeds, dangerous and uncomfortable crossings, and drivers that rarely yield. Additionally, in recent years, there has been a significant increase in fatal pedestrian crashes.

These conditions are not unlike those experienced by people bicycling in Milwaukee 25 years ago. However, that began to change in 1993 with the adoption of the City's first bicycle plan. That plan, and a 2010 update, led to a consistent focus on and investment in improving bicycling conditions throughout Milwaukee. This support for bicycling has paid off: there has been a 300 percent increase in the rate of people bicycling in the City, while the rate of bicycle crashes has fallen 75 percent. Much like the City's first bicycle plan, this Plan presents an opportunity to build on Milwaukee's comprehensive pedestrian network, and improve the safety and comfort of people walking in Milwaukee.

Who is a Pedestrian?

Everyone in Milwaukee is a pedestrian. This includes people walking, running, or using a wheelchair or other mobility device. It includes people going to work and school, jogging, shopping, catching the bus, or walking to their car. The term "walking" as used in this document includes all of these forms of travel, for all purposes, and by all people. I love walking in Milwaukee, being outdoors and in control. I can decide for myself where to go, and I don't need anything to do it! -Survey Participant



Plan Documents

Substantial research about conditions for people walking in Milwaukee was conducted as part of this planning process. This work is summarized in this document, and is also presented as a series of detailed whitepapers on the following topics:

- Pedestrian Safety in Milwaukee
- · Driver Yielding to Pedestrians
- Pedestrian Count Estimation
- Public Engagement and Survey of Public Attitudes Toward Walking in Milwaukee

Results and conclusions from these whitepapers are used throughout this document to support the recommendations of the Plan.

Milwaukee Quick Facts

Incorporated: **January 31, 1846** **Paved Streets:** 1,424 miles¹⁰

Area: 96.48 square miles^a

Population: 595.351⁹

National Walk Score Rank: 24 of 100 largest cities¹¹

% of Workers Commuting on Foot: 5%





The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)

The ADA became law in 1990. The ADA is a civil rights law that prohibits discrimination against individuals with disabilities in all areas of public life, including jobs, schools, transportation, and all public and private places that are open to the general public.

Relevant to this Plan, the ADA provides specific standards for the design of pedestrian facilities including sidewalks and curb ramps to ensure accessibility. These requirements are typically triggered whenever a street or sidewalk has a major repair or reconstruction.

Proposed Guidelines for Pedestrian Facilities in the Public Right-of-Way (PROWAG) - 2011

PROWAG provides accessibility guidelines for the design, construction, and alteration of pedestrian facilities in the public right-ofway. The guidelines ensure that sidewalks, pedestrian street crossings, pedestrian signals, and other facilities for pedestrian circulation are readily accessible to and usable by people with disabilities. PROWAG has not been formally adopted, and its guidance is not required, but it provides best practices for accommodating people with disabilities.

Why Walkability?

Walkability refers to how friendly a place is for walking and includes providing spaces where people feel safe walking, supporting opportunities to make meaningful trips by foot, and creating an environment where people choose to walk because it is convenient, accessible, and enjoyable. Walkability also implies accessibility—the ability of people of various abilities and ages to safely navigate the pedestrian system.

Walkability is important because at some point of each trip, everyone walks. Every trip in a car, on a bus, or by bike starts and ends with a walk. Improving walkability can result in significant improvements in public health, safety, and economic well-being of a community. In recent decades, a large body of research has demonstrated many of the benefits of walking. These benefits are summarized below.

Choice and Mobility

Walking is an essential means of transportation. For many people, it is the most convenient and most reliable form of travel, especially for short trips. Milwaukee's sidewalks present opportunities for people to walk daily and provide generally good access to schools, bus stops, places of employment, and commercial areas. Walking is also the easily combined with other forms of travel such as transit or driving.

People in Milwaukee should have travel and recreational choices. Walking is the most basic means of transportation and people need the option of walking to as many places as possible to capitalize on its benefits. People in the United States are becoming increasingly aware of these benefits and are expressing a preference to live in neighborhoods with walkable connections to local businesses. According to a 2013 survey undertaken by the National Realtors Association, 60 percent of adults in the U.S. favor walkable, mixed-use neighborhoods, and almost two thirds of adults between 18 and 35 report a desire to drive less if other transportation options were available.¹ Because of these preferences, providing mixed-use, walkable neighborhoods can help Milwaukee meet the needs of its residents and compete nationally to attract new residents.



For many people in Milwaukee, walking is the main or exclusive means of travel. Approximately 5 percent of workers in the City of Milwaukee commute by walking.² The percentage is likely much higher since it does not include many seniors, children, or people who do not work. In fact, 22 percent of the population of Milwaukee-approximately 133,000 people—is under the age of 15.³ Additionally, many people choose to walk or do not have access to other forms of transportation. Safe and comfortable places to walk provide independence and allows everyone to reach important destinations such as schools, shopping and employment centers, and places of social interaction such as parks and libraries.

The area along streets provides opportunities to improve the environment for people living nearby



Health

Walking provides substantial health benefits. Many health organizations recommend walking for physical activity because it is widely accessible and relatively low impact. Walking for health can be incorporated into daily activities (such as walking to work, the store, or the library), or can be recreational (such as going for a run or a social walk with a friend or family). According to the City of Milwaukee's 2016 Community Health Assessment, average life expectancy is almost four years lower in Milwaukee than in the State of Wisconsin. According to the same report, 74 percent of Milwaukee adults were overweight in 2015 with approximately 24 percent adults reporting no daily physical activity.4

Increased walking, like any physical activity, can help people maintain weight, manage chronic diseases, strengthen bones and muscles, improve mental health and mood, and increase life expectancy.⁵ Walking is an excellent way for seniors to socialize with friends and access local services. Similarly, walking provides children with a sense of freedom and access to a wide variety of activities.

Safety

People walking are the most vulnerable users of the street and are at the highest risk for injury in a crash involving a motor vehicle. Investing in a connected and comprehensive pedestrian network, including sidewalks and street crossings, can improve safety for those walking. These improvements can also enhance safety for people in cars or buses as many safety improvements for pedestrians also reduce the frequency and severity of vehicle crashes and can improve drivers' awareness of their surroundings.

Economic

Improving conditions for walking can have a positive impact on the local economy by reducing household transportation costs, providing access to jobs, increasing property values, and reducing healthcare costs. Walking can significantly reduce people's costs for transportation and increase job opportunities. Transportation costs on average account for 19 percent of total household costs in Milwaukeean average of over \$10,200 each year.⁶ Cost savings from driving less or owning fewer vehicles frees up income which can be used for other household needs and purchases, including local goods and services. In addition, a 2014 Harvard University study found that walkable communities that connect residential areas to employment can improve the ability of residents to move up the economic ladder.⁷

MILWAU^{*}EE PEDESTRIAN PLAN

Purpose of This Plan

For the reasons above, and many more, it is critical that we continue investing in walkability and achieve the goal of becoming a more walkable city. To prioritize and guide investments in walkability, the Department of Public Works (DPW) undertook this Plan in mid-2017. DPW is the primary agency that manages walking infrastructure in the City and strongly supports providing safe and comfortable places to walk. The services DPW provides directly impact walking in Milwaukee: the department constructs and maintains streets, sidewalks, paths, traffic signals, and crosswalks used by people walking; plants and maintains street trees that shade sidewalks and beautify streets; and clears snow and ice from streets and City sidewalks among other duties. DPW staff managed the development of this Plan; provided expertise about current City practices and policies; coordinated outreach to and input from the public, stakeholder groups, and other City departments; and oversaw the consultant team developing the Plan. This Plan describes the strong interest expressed by thousands of residents and visitors for Milwaukee to be a safe and comfortable place to walk, the issues confronting walkability in Milwaukee, and recommendations and tools to improve walkability, connectivity, and accessibility. As the City's first Pedestrian Plan, this document recommends programs, policies, and tools that will improve the safety and comfort of people walking, increase connectivity and accessibility, and promote health and quality of life in all Milwaukee neighborhoods.



Where are People Walking?

As part of this planning process, people walking were counted at intersections throughout the City. These counts were used to estimate annual pedestrian counts for all major intersections in the City based on the characteristics of each intersection. The estimates are useful because they paint a picture of where people are currently walking in Milwaukee. Not surprisingly, the estimates show very high numbers of people walking Downtown, near the Marquette University and University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee campuses, and in the Lower East Side, as shown in Figure 2. However, the map also shows higher levels of walking in neighborhood business districts throughout Milwaukee, and substantial numbers of people walking in all neighborhoods of the City. Detailed information about the pedestrian count estimation process is provided in the accompanying whitepaper, *Milwaukee Pedestrian Count Estimation*.





Figure 2. Estimate of annual pedestrian crossings at major intersections

Guiding Principles

Community input and analysis of existing conditions revealed common themes to make Milwaukee a safer, more comfortable, and more convenient place to walk. These themes have been summarized into the following three Guiding Principles and associated actions to achieve each principle. These provide the framework for the remainder of this plan.

Improve Safety

- Improve the safety and convenience of walking through street and sidewalk designs and improvements at intersections and crossings.
- Promote safe travel behaviors through partnerships with local agencies and organizations with similar missions.

Increase Connectivity and Accessibility

 Provide a system that makes walking convenient and attractive for people of all abilities.

Build for Livability & Health

- Use Milwaukee's pedestrian network to support vibrant streets and neighborhoods.
- Provide a pedestrian system that promotes healthy, active lifestyles and addresses existing health disparities.









2. What We Heard

Listening to people who live, work in, or visit Milwaukee about their experiences walking in the City was a critical step in understanding the issues facing people walking. Throughout late 2017 and 2018, City and consultant staff used a variety of methods to interact with a wide range of community members. This chapter briefly describes the various activities for engaging with and listening to people, as well as key themes that emerged from these interactions. The *Public Engagement and Survey of Public Attitudes Toward Walking in Milwaukee* whitepaper provides additional detail about the feedback received through this process.



Public Involvement Meeting participants note concerns about walking on a map of the city

Community Engagement

A variety of opportunities were provided for community members to contribute input on conditions for people walking, and desired project goals; these opportunities are summarized below.

Public Involvement Meeting

A Public Involvement Meeting was held in October 2017 at the Milwaukee Public Library – Central Library. Meeting participants provided feedback on the project goals and vision, various types of pedestrian facilities and treatments, and concerns with walking in Milwaukee. Participants also had the opportunity to identify locations and provide comments about specific issues facing pedestrians on City maps.

Bicycle & Pedestrian Task Force

Three presentations were given to the City's Bicycle & Pedestrian Task Force to update the group on the status of the project and seek input on the content of the Plan.

Focus Groups

Four focus groups were held in February and March 2018 to discuss walking as it related to specific neighborhoods or topic areas. The focus groups provided an opportunity to have more in-depth, detailed discussions on specific issues than was possible at the Public Involvement Meeting. The focus groups engaged:

- · People interested in accessibility issues;
- · People interested in access to transit;
- Representatives of the City's Neighborhood and Business Improvement
 Districts (NIDs and BIDs); and
- · Choice Neighborhood / Westlawn Neighborhood residents.

The focus groups ranged in size from six to twelve participants. Discussions were initially focused on topics specific to each focus group, but often became more wide-ranging as each discussion progressed.

Online and In-Person Surveys

A survey was developed for people to provide input on walking conditions in Milwaukee. The survey was primarily online, and a paper version of the survey was distributed door-to-door to households located on 30 blocks throughout the City of Milwaukee. This ensured that people without internet access could provide input. The paper survey was distributed to two randomly selected residential blocks in each of the 15 Alder Districts in December 2017 and January 2018. Both the online and in-person surveys were available in English and Spanish.

Overall, 1,720 completed Pedestrian Plan survey responses were received: 1,538 were submitted in response to the online survey link, 161 were submitted from door-to-door distribution, and 21 were submitted in paper form at the first Pedestrian Plan public meeting. As shown in Figure 3, residents from all zip codes in the City of Milwaukee were represented, while 44 responses were received from zip codes outside of the City of Milwaukee. Figure 3. Survey responses per 10,000 residents by zip code



Common Themes

Several themes emerged throughout the public engagement opportunities; these themes are summarized below and form the basis for the Plan's recommendations.

Safety

People are very concerned about their safety when walking in Milwaukee. While some people expressed safety concerns related to crime (harassment, assault, or robbery), the overwhelming safety threat cited by people is the risk of being struck by a motor vehicle. Deep concern was expressed about driver behavior and impacts on the safety and comfort of people walking. Speeding, failure to yield to people walking, reckless driving, unsafe passing, and failure to observe stop signs and traffic signals were frequently cited as common behaviors that present significant pedestrian safety hazards.

> There is a lot of danger from really bad drivers. They turn right on red and do not watch for pedestrians, and there is a lot of speeding and running through stop signs and ignoring traffic lights.

Accessibility

Accessibility—ensuring persons with disabilities have access to public spaces—was another topic of concern among people providing input for the plan. In recent years, there have been great strides in making walking accessible for all Milwaukeeans, primarily through building ADA-compliant pedestrian curb ramps at street corners. However, remaining accessibility issues include lack of curb ramps, concerns over the time needed to cross at signalized intersections, sidewalk gaps in select locations, and work zones without accessible detours.

Pushing a wheelchair is difficult. I almost dumped my mother twice. I fell this fall where uneven sidewalks created an inch-plus tripping hazard.

-Survey Participant

Light poles and other obstructions can present significant accessibility challenges in some parts of the City





Livability and Health

People love to walk in Milwaukee for exercise, socialization, or relaxation. A vibrant pedestrian realm, including sidewalks, trails, parklets, and sidewalk cafes, adds to the attractiveness and enjoyment of many City neighborhoods. At the same time, some streets do not have attractive pedestrian spaces and people walking often feel intimidated by traffic. In many of the doorto-door interviews, people shared very positive messages on the importance of walking in their neighborhoods and having attractive places to walk. Neighborhoods and streets with vibrant street life add to the livability of Milwaukee and encourage people to walk more often, which in turn contributes to better health.

Maintenance and Operations

The condition of Milwaukee's pedestrian network is generally good; however, concerns were expressed about sidewalk conditions in select locations, and winter snow removal practices throughout the City.

> People don't shovel their sidewalks. It makes walking very difficult and sometimes dangerous.

-Focus Group Participant

These four core themes—safety, accessibility, livability, and maintenance—guide the analysis and recommendations that comprise the remainder of this plan. Public input is included throughout this plan in the form of quotes from individuals and survey results. A detailed description of all public input is available in the supporting whitepaper, Milwaukee Pedestrian Plan Public Input Summary.

Accessible pedestrian detours must be provided when construction blocks existing pedestrian facilities



I love walking in the city. It's healthier than driving. It's safer than driving. It allows me to actually enjoy my neighborhood and connect to the people and places around me.

-Survey Participant

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK





3. What are the Issues?

People walking in Milwaukee face a variety of issues. Some, such as difficulties crossing busy streets, are easily identified while others, such as construction detours lacking an accessible route for people using wheelchairs or other mobility devices, may only be apparent to a few people. This chapter builds on the public input described in Chapter 2 and describes many of the issues facing people walking in the City, while Chapter 4 provides recommendations to address these concerns.

Safety

Traffic safety is the most pressing issue facing people walking in Milwaukee. Seventyfive percent of survey respondents shared safety concerns when walking. In some cases, respondents voiced concern about crime while walking, although the overwhelming worry was being struck by a vehicle. This section highlights information about the safety of people walking in Milwaukee; more information can be found in the accompanying whitepapers *Pedestrian Safety in Milwaukee*, and *Motorist Yielding to Pedestrians in Milwaukee*.

Crash Statistics

People walking in Milwaukee are disproportionately at risk of being struck by a motor vehicle compared to people walking in other parts of the state. According to a report issued by MilWALKee Walks and the Wisconsin Bike Fed, "The City of Milwaukee has 10.4 percent of the state population and 29.1 percent of the state [pedestrian] crashes.... From 2011-2015 every [aldermanic] district had at least one pedestrian killed, most frequently due to people driving failing to yield [to pedestrians]."¹²



MILWAUKEE REPRESENTS **10.4%** OF THE POPULATION

BUT ACCOUNTS FOR **29.1**% OF PEDESTRIAN CRASHES

People walking in Milwaukee are also disproportionately likely to suffer a severe or fatal injury in the event of a crash: approximately 5% of commuters in Milwaukee walk, but pedestrians represented 25 percent of severe injuries and 27 percent of fatalities in crashes in Milwaukee between 2011 and 2017 (Figure 5).¹³ Even allowing for the fact that commutes only represent a portion of all walking trips in Milwaukee, people walking are significantly more at risk for severe or fatal injury than people traveling in vehicles.

Figure 5. People walking in Milwaukee are disproportionately at risk of being involved in a fatal crash



Figure 6 displays the total number of reported pedestrian crashes from 2011 to 2017, including those on private property and in parking lots, while Figure 7 displays the total reported pedestrian crashes resulting in a severe injury or fatality to the pedestrian. These figures only represent crashes that were reported to the police; a large number of relatively minor crashes are also often not reported to the police.

Figure 6. Total reported pedestrian crashes, 2011-2017



Over the past 20 years, the number of crashes involving pedestrians has significantly declined. Between 1997 and 2017, crashes involving someone walking decreased by over 50%. Despite this reduction, the total number of reported pedestrian crashes has remained relatively consistent between 2011 and 2017, with a modest decrease in crashes in 2016 and 2017.

While total crashes decreased slightly over this period, the number of severe and fatal crashes increased significantly with 2017 having the highest number of severe and fatal crashes in the period.¹⁴

Figure 7. Total severe injury and fatal pedestrian crashes, 2011-2017



Crash Locations

Pedestrian crashes occur throughout Milwaukee, but there are clear concentrations of crashes in select locations. There are three ways of analyzing reported pedestrian crash locations:

- 1. Where crashes occur;
- 2. The rate of crashes adjusted for pedestrian volumes; and
- 3. Where severe and fatal crashes occur.

Crash Corridors

Pedestrian crashes tend to be clustered in Downtown Milwaukee and along major streets throughout the City. Figure 8 displays the location of all pedestrian crashes reported within 80 feet of an intersection from 2012 to 2016. The highest density of pedestrian crashes is generally found along the following corridors:

Capitol Drive	North 92nd Street to Milwaukee River
North 35th Street	West St. Paul Avenue to West Capitol Drive
North 27th Street	Interstate 94 to West Capitol Drive
Fond du Lac Avenue	Interstate 43 to West Silver Spring Avenue
North Avenue	West Lisbon Avenue to North Prospect Avenue
Water Street	West Cherry Street to East St. Paul Avenue
Cesar Chavez Drive	West Forest Home Avenue to West National Avenue
National Avenue	South 35th Street to South 1st Street
Greenfield Avenue	South 27th Street to South 6th Street
Layton Boulevard/South 27th Street	West Loomis Road to West National Avenue
West Oklahoma Avenue	South 76th Street to South 92nd Street
West Silver Spring Drive	West Appleton Avenue to North Teutonia Avenue

These corridors have several characteristics in common:

- Most have posted speed limits of 30 miles per hour or higher;
- · Most are multi-lane streets (with four or more total travel lanes);
- Most have traffic volumes of more than 10,000 motor vehicles per day; and
- All are transit routes.







Pedestrian Crash Risk

Crashes involving pedestrians are often more likely to occur where pedestrians are present. Comparing the map of estimated pedestrian counts (Figure 2) with the map of pedestrian crash locations (Figure 8), it is clear that many locations with high levels of walking also have high numbers of crashes involving people walking. However, this does not necessarily mean that it is more dangerous to walk in a high-crash location like Downtown than to walk in another location with fewer crashes, but also fewer people walking; more crashes can be expected where more people are walking. Combining these two maps provides an estimate of pedestrian crash rates (that is, the risk each individual faces when crossing the street). These crash rates are expressed in terms of pedestrian crashes per million pedestrian crossings and are shown in Figure 9.

A close comparison of Figures 8 and 9 shows that many high crash locations actually have relatively low crash rates, while many areas with lower numbers of people walking have higher crash rates. Examining the 50 intersections with the highest crash rates yields particularly high-risk streets for people walking (listed alphabetically):

East and West Capitol Drive	North Holton Street to North 76th Street
North 27th Street	West Walnut Street to West Capitol Drive
North 35th Street	West Vliet Street to West Capitol Drive
North 76th Street	West Burleigh Street to North Industrial Road
North 91st Street	West Appleton Avenue to West Silver Spring Drive
North Teutonia Avenue	West Atkinson Avenue to West Silver Spring Drive
South 27th Street	West National Avenue to West College Avenue
West Fond du Lac Avenue	North 27th Street to North Sherman Boulevard
West Layton Avenue	I-94 to South 27th Street
West National Avenue	South 16th Street to South 44th Street
West Oklahoma Avenue	South 76th Street to South 92nd Street
West Silver Spring Drive	West Appleton Avenue to North Teutonia Avenue

Figure 9. Estimated pedestrian crash rates in the City of Milwaukee, 2012-2016



High Injury Network (HIN)

Yet another way to look at pedestrian crashes is examining where the most severe crashes are occurring. It is important to focus on locations where crashes result in serious injury or death as these crashes have the greatest impact on people's lives and well-being. These crashes also have significant economic impacts, including personal economic losses, long-term healthcare costs, and spending on emergency response. Figure 10 displays the pedestrian high-injury network—the most dangerous streets citywide. The pedeestrian high-injury network was determined by mapping all pedestrian crashes along a street, with severe and fatal crashes receiving three points, and non-severe crashes receiving one point; points were then totaled in half-mile segments to produce the heat map. The pedestrian high injury network represents approximately 106 miles of streets, or 7 percent of all City streets. Using this measure, the most dangerous corridors for people walking include the following (listed alphabetically):

East Brady Street	North Prospect Avenue to North Van Buren Street
East North Avenue	North Terrace Avenue to North Humboldt Avenue
North Oakland Avenue	East Irving Place to East Hartford Avenue
North 27th Street	West North Avenue to West Hope Avenue
North Water Street	West St. Paul Avenue to West Cherry Street
South Cesar E Chavez Drive	West National Avenue to West Lapham Boulevard
West Burleigh Street	North 20th Street to North Sherman Boulevard
West Capitol Drive	North 20th Street to West Fond du Lac Avenue
West Fond Du Lac Avenue	West North Avenue to West Townsend Street
West Greenfield Avenue	South 14th Street to South 22nd Street
West Greenneid Avenue	

Figure 10. Pedestrian high-injury network





Crash Types

In 2016, the Department of Public Works (DPW) conducted a study using two methods to categorize a sample of pedestrian crashes in the City of Milwaukee. Figure 11 displays the most common types of pedestrian crashes in Milwaukee overall, while Figure 12 displays the most common types of severe and fatal pedestrian crashes based on this sample. Notably, 4 of the 5 most common crash types, and 3 of the 4 most serious crash types, occur when a pedestrian is in a crosswalk.

Figure 11. Most Common Pedestrian Crash Types in Milwaukee

Figure 12. Most Common Fatal and Severe Pedestrian Crash Types in Milwaukee, 2011-2015

Rank	Depiction	Description ¹⁵	Rank	Depiction	Description
0		Left-turning motorist strikes pedestrian traveling from opposite direction (relative to motorist's direction before turning) in far crosswalk	1		Straight-traveling motorist on right side of street strikes pedestrian approaching from left (not in crosswalk)
2		Straight-traveling motorist on right side of street strikes pedestrian approaching from the right (not in crosswalk)	2		Straight-traveling motorist strikes pedestrian approaching from left on far side of intersection
3		Left-turning motorist strikes pedestrian traveling from same direction (relative to motorist's direction before turning) in far crosswalk	3		Straight-traveling motorist strikes pedestrian approaching from right on far side of intersection
4		Right-turning motorist strikes pedestrian approaching from right in near crosswalk	4		Straight-traveling motorist strikes pedestrian approaching from right on near side of intersection
5		Straight-traveling motorist strikes pedestrian approaching from right in near crosswalk			

Failure to Yield

In Wisconsin, a legal crosswalk exists anywhere that a sidewalk intersects with a street, even if the crosswalk is not marked with paint. Additionally, a legal crosswalk exists even where the sidewalk does not continue on the other side of the street. Wisconsin law requires drivers to yield to people walking at all crosswalks that do not have a traffic signal or stop sign even if the crosswalk is not marked.

Drivers in Milwaukee rarely yield to people trying to cross the street. Figure 13 displays locations where driver yielding was observed as part of this plan. Yielding rates ranged from zero to 61 percent, with drivers at most locations yielding less than 33 percent of the time. The lack of driver yielding represents a serious threat to the safety of pedestrians and makes it challenging for people to cross streets on foot.

Drivers rarely yield to people walking, even when crosswalks are highly visible



Figure 13. Driver yielding rates at select intersections





Speeding

A review of speed studies showed that it is common for drivers to exceed the posted speed limit by at least ten miles per hour on many major streets. This conclusion is supported by comments collected through public engagement for the Plan. Speeding is a critical factor in pedestrian safety because the risk of severe injury or death to a person struck by a motorist increases exponentially as vehicle speeds increase.

Several streets have a particularly severe speeding problem:

- South 35th Street near West Arthur Avenue had more than 750 vehicles per day traveling at least 50 miles per hour in a 30 mile per hour zone. This location is a four-lane street in a mixed residential, office, and industrial area.
- West Capitol Drive near North 39th Street had more than 950 vehicles per day traveling at least 50 miles per hour in a 30 mile per hour zone. This location is a six-lane street in a mixed residential and commercial area.
- North 68th Street near West Glendale Avenue had more than 120 vehicles per day traveling at least 50 miles per hour in a 30 mile per hour zone. This location is a two-lane street in a residential neighborhood.

The high rate of speeding puts people who are walking in Milwaukee at risk of serious injury or death if a crash occurs. Not surprisingly, some of the highest-speed roadways correspond with high concentrations of pedestrian crashes with severe and fatal injuries. Reducing vehicle speeds is critical for improving the safety of people walking in Milwaukee and making neighborhoods more livable.

The importance of reducing speed in pedestrian safety

There is a clear relationship between motor vehicle speeds and pedestrian safety. Higher motor vehicle speeds decrease the probability of drivers yielding to pedestrians in crosswalks and increase the likelihood of severe injuries or death when a crash does occur.^{17, 18} Speeding also gives both people walking and people driving less time to avoid a crash. As shown in Figure 14, the risk of a pedestrian being seriously injured or killed in a crash increases dramatically as speeds increase from 20 to 40 miles per hour or more.

Figure 14. Likelihood of pedestrian fatality or severe injury by vehicle speed



Source: Tefft, Brian C. Impact speed and a pedestrian's risk of severe injury or death. Accident Analysis & Prevention. 50. 2013

Sidewalks and Connectivity

Sidewalks are more than just the space for people to walk. They improve the safety and comfort of people walking and provide places for people of all ages to run, skate, ride bikes, socialize, and play. Sidewalks also improve mobility for people walking and provide access and connectivity for all types of trips: to and from home, work, parks, schools, shopping areas, transit stops, and personal vehicles.

Milwaukee has sidewalks on both sides of most streets under its jurisdiction. The denser parts of the City and neighborhoods developed before 1950 have sidewalks on almost all streets. All of Milwaukee's commercial districts, such as Brady Street, North Avenue, Downer Avenue, Center Street, Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Drive, Mitchell Street, Kinnickinnic Avenue, and Cesar Chavez Drive have sidewalks, many of which have decorative streetscape elements. Additionally, millions of dollars have been invested in streetscapes to make the sidewalks more walkable and pleasant to travel upon.

However, there are areas of the City where people walking face connectivity challenges for a variety of reasons, which are summarized below.

Lack of sidewalks in some locations

As previously noted, sidewalks are present in most of the City, especially when compared to many other large cities. However, some streets and neighborhoods are missing sidewalks or have sidewalks in poor condition, which forces people to walk in the street or avoid making walking trips altogether. The City's subdivision regulations require that sidewalks be installed on both sides of residential streets in new subdivisions. However, some developed areas of the City were annexed without sidewalks, or had the sidewalk requirement waived.

Curb ramps

Curb ramps are crucial for people of all abilities to navigate the sidewalk system. Curb ramps provide access for people using wheelchairs and other mobility devices, reduce tripping hazards, and improve conditions for people pushing strollers and children biking on the sidewalk. Since 1975, the City of Milwaukee has programmatically constructed and replaced pedestrian curb ramps. However, while curb ramps have been installed at almost every corner throughout the City, at many locations the design and subsequent construction no longer meet the standards of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).



Sidewalk condition

The City's sidewalks are generally in good condition, with 60 percent of survey participants rating the City's sidewalk conditions as "Very Good" or "Good" and only 15 percent of participants rating sidewalk conditions as "Very Bad" or "Bad." However, sidewalk conditions vary throughout the City, and sidewalks in some neighborhoods are in poor condition. This presents safety and accessibility issues and limits the usefulness of the sidewalk system for some people. Tripping hazards are particularly concerning for seniors since falls among this population can lead to broken bones with lengthy recovery periods or permanent disability.

City of Milwaukee Sidewalk Repair, Replacement, and Installation Programs

Repair and Replacement

Sidewalks are repaired or replaced through a variety of methods in Milwaukee:

- Street Resurfacing and Reconstruction Projects: Where needed, sidewalks are repaired or replaced to bring them up to city standards during nearly all street resurfacing and reconstruction projects. An exception to this is the High Impact Paving program, which only addresses curb ramps that do not meet current standards.
- Area-Wide Sidewalk Replacement Program: This program focuses on assessing the condition of sidewalks within specific areas of the city each year and repairing or replacing sidewalks that do not meet city standards. The program covers different areas of the city each year, over time covering the entire city.
- Scattered Sites Sidewalk Replacement: This program repairs or replaces sidewalks that have been cited as problematic by property owners or in response to complaints or tripping hazards.

For each of these programs, the city and the adjacent property owners share the cost of sidewalk replacement equally. The only exception is for sidewalks damaged by city trees, which the city funds 100%.

New Sidewalk Installations

In addition to existing sidewalks being repaired and replaced when needed, new sidewalks are installed on streets without them under a variety of conditions:

- New Developments and New Streets: Sidewalks are required to be constructed by city policy when subdivisions or planned unit developments are approved.
- Street Resurfacing and Reconstruction Projects: When streets without sidewalks are resurfaced or reconstructed, sidewalks are added per city policy.
- **Small Spot Improvements:** Very small segments of missing sidewalks are added to connect existing sidewalk segments. This is done through the Scattered Sites Replacement program.

These methods for installing new sidewalks typically require developers to pay for 100 percent of the installation cost in new developments. When sidewalks are added to existing city streets without sidewalks, adjacent property owners pay the same cost as if the sidewalks were being replaced (50 percent cost share with city).

Livability & Health

Numerous City departments have long worked to make Milwaukee's streets more livable, vibrant, and attractive. For example:

- DPW has partnered with community organizations to enhance streetscapes during street reconstruction projects, repaving projects, and other opportunities to activate streets. For example, decorative crosswalks can be installed on many residential streets, open street events are encouraged (such as Ciclovía), and many streets can be designed with wider sidewalks (such as S. 5th Street in Walker's Point).
- DPW's Forestry Services works to manage and enhance over 200,000 street trees, as well as boulevard plantings, green spaces, and other landscaping.
- In coordination with DPW, the Office of the City Clerk permits sidewalk cafes that add interest, vitality, and economic opportunities to the City's commercial districts.
- The Department of City Development works with residents, business owners, and developers to plan for and create properties and corridors that are attractive and support walking and bicycling.

DPW's Forestry Services maintains trees throughout the City that contribute to the livability of neighborhoods



Additionally, the vision of the City's Community Health Improvement Plan—*MKE Elevate*—is to "Support Safe and Healthy Neighborhoods" by addressing physical and social environmental factors. One of the top priorities is to "enhance community connectedness," which encourages the establishment of places for Milwaukeeans to meet and interact. Although the health plan does not call for specific walking initiatives or investments, many of the actions called for in this Plan will support the goals and recommendations of *MKE Elevate*.

Despite these efforts, issues persist that have limited the ability of some neighborhoods to reach their potential as vibrant and healthy parts of the City.

Neighborhood Livability

Every neighborhood in Milwaukee is served by one of more major streets. While it is common for residents to be satisfied with the quiet neighborhood street they may live on, they consider livability and walkability of the neighborhood to encompass a much wider area, including these busier streets which they visit and cross by foot and bicycle. When walking, people place a premium on safety, livability, and neighborhood health. Conditions that affect safety, such as speeding and unsafe crossings, have already been summarized as a leading concern of residents that impact livability. The appearance of streets, including landscaping, street trees, public art, lighting, and other features, also impacts the livability of streets and neighborhoods.

Health

Traffic safety is a significant public health issue. Every year thousands of people walking, bicycling, and in vehicles are involved in crashes in the city, with hundreds sustaining severe injuries, and too many losing their lives. Reducing this traffic violence will positively and directly impact the health of many people throughout the City, particularly pedestrians, who are the most vulnerable users of the street.

In addition to the direct health impacts of reducing crashes, providing walkable neighborhoods can improve the health of residents as they are more likely to walk for short trips, leisure, and to make connections to transit. These short walking trips measurably improve resident health. National physical activity guidelines recommend 150 minutes of moderate physical activity for adults and 450 minutes for children per week. Walking is particularly important for seniors, people with disabilities, and people with lower incomes who have fewer opportunities to participate in sports or formal exercise programs.¹⁶ Walking as a part of everyday transportation can help people meet these goals, yet less than half of Americans get the recommended amount of activity. A vibrant pedestrian realm, including sidewalks, trails, parklets, and sidewalk cafes, creates an environment where walking is easy, convenient, and attractive.

There are many aspects to maintaining and creating healthy and walkable neighborhoods. Certainly, having a mix of land uses and densities supports walkability, and the City's comprehensive and neighborhood plans support this goal. Designing and maintaining facilities to make it easy and comfortable to walk along and across streets is essential to the creation and support for a healthy Milwaukee. Supporting livability involves going beyond safety and building essential pedestrian facilities; it includes the construction and upkeep of important amenities such as street trees, lighting, and public spaces for people to congregate, socialize, and recreate.



Funding and City Processes

While much progress on pedestrian safety, comfort, and accessibility has been achieved in Milwaukee, challenges remain, particularly relating to funding and putting policies into action. Challenges include:

- · lack of funding for pedestrian infrastructure,
- safety improvements are often made only after a serious crash,
- inadequate processes to effectively use data in decision making,
- conflicting sources of street design guidance related to pedestrian safety interventions, and
- streets that often prioritize motor vehicles instead of people walking, biking or using transit.

Streets like Capitol Drive prioritize driving at the expense of other users of the street



Reactive Process to Safety Improvements

DPW has made countless improvements for pedestrian safety and accessibility. However, in many cases these improvements are in response to a serious crash, or at the request of a Common Council member or neighborhood to address a known safety issue. Without readily available data and clearly identified priorities for pedestrian safety improvements, projects are not always prioritized where there is the greatest need.

Streets Prioritize Driving

Complete Streets are streets that are designed for users of all ages, abilities and choices for getting around, including walking, bicycling,

using transit, and driving. In 2018, the City Council adopted the City's first Complete Streets policy to ensure that streets are built to accommodate the needs of the surrounding community. Similar to many American cities, streets throughout Milwaukee have traditionally been built primarily to prioritize the movement and storage of cars and trucks with less regard for non-motorized forms of travel the needs of the surrounding community, and Complete Streets principles. Many streets include overly wide travel and parking lanes, and speed limits that are higher than desirable in an urban setting. Additionally, many major streets were built or expanded during the years following World War II when the City's population was almost 150,000 people more than it is today, car ownership was expanding, and significant changes in the location of commercial and employment areas caused shifts in travel patterns in the City. These factors have resulted in many major streets with more travel lanes than necessary, which increases pedestrian crossing distances and makes it easier for people to drive faster than the speed limit. Complete Streets initiatives consider these changes and attempt to find solutions, which include removing or narrowing travel lanes and related improvements in pedestrian crossing infrastructure.



Inadequate Funding to Address Street and Sidewalk Needs

DPW has made gains in recent years in addressing the City's backlog of maintenance needs for streets and sidewalks. However, substantial deferred maintenance still exists: at the current pace of repair, it will take years to repair all of the City's streets and sidewalks, even without addressing necessary safety improvements. To be accessible and safe, streets and sidewalks require ongoing seasonal maintenance (snow and ice removal, sweeping, landscaping, etc.) in addition to capital maintenance (repair and limited replacement of existing sidewalks and ramps due to damage). DPW currently clears over 7,000 lane miles of streets and 460 miles of City-owned sidewalks of snow and ice; however, a lack of funding prevents the Department from clearing snow more quickly from sidewalks and curb ramps. Limited funding also decreases the staffing available for tasks such as inspection of work zones and private construction projects for adequate pedestrian accommodations.

There are limited options to address low funding levels for DPW (and other departments). In 2011, the State Legislature imposed strict limits on the taxes Wisconsin cities could impose. Because of this, the City's budget can only incrementally increase in any given year. Any new or expanded initiatives, such as an expanded program to repair streets and sidewalks, must be funded using this small incremental increase or by decreasing funding for another budget item. This issue has been partially addressed by using funding sources other than the general levy to improve pedestrian infrastructure (for example, Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) and state/federal funding programs). However, these funding sources are difficult to use for on-going maintenance of pedestrian facilities.

Lack of Data for Decision Making

Many pedestrian safety improvements only occur after a serious crash or to address concerns from a persistent alder or resident. While the City maintains and uses pedestrian crash and count data to address known issues, there are not policies, procedures, or staff in place to use existing data proactively to improve pedestrian safety. Additionally, data is lacking in some critical areas: there is no comprehensive inventory of sidewalk locations or conditions, pedestrian safety treatments, or ADA-compliant curb ramps in the City. These factors make it difficult to use data to aid decision-making and make it challenging to evaluate the impacts of pedestrian safety investments.

Lack of Direction on How to use Tools

Many DPW staff members are aware of treatments, tools, and best practices to improve pedestrian safety and livability. However, there is not a preferred reference or tool to guide planners, engineers, designers, and other decision makers in implementing pedestrian safety improvements. There is also no standard process to resolve conflicting guidance among the many available design resources. This results in inconsistent use of pedestrian safety enhancements in Milwaukee.



THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK




Recommendations

This chapter provides a blueprint for improving pedestrian safety, connectivity, accessibility, and comfort in the City of Milwaukee over the months and years ahead. The recommendations are based on public and staff input during the planning process, best practices from peer cities, and national guidance related to pedestrian safety and facilities.

Many of the recommendations embrace more than one of these themes, and all of the recommendations support making the City more walkable, vibrant, and safer.

Each recommendation includes a brief description, rationale, and a list of action items needed to implement. Each recommendation concludes with a list of agencies whose involvement is necessary for successful implementation of specific actions or the overall recommendation.

While many of the action items can be implemented within a year or two, some of the recommendations may take longer to complete or may continue indefinitely. This plan is a blueprint to improve conditions for walking in Milwaukee, and it will require incremental progress each year to achieve its goals. To aid the City in achieving these goals and evaluating progress, the Complete Streets Committee and Bicycle and Pedestrian Task Force will play a vital role in annually developing priorities and evaluating progress.

While all of the recommendations in this chapter are important, not all of them have to be implemented in concert for significant benefits to be achieved. Progress in pedestrian safety and improved walkability will be achieved through the steady and consistent adoption of many of these recommendations.

Implementation Partners

The following abbreviations or acronyms are used to identify implementation partners:

- BIDs: Business Improvement Districts
- DCD: City of Milwaukee Department of City Development
- DER: City of Milwaukee Department of

The recommendations are divided into four themes:



Safety





Accessibility and Connectivity

Livability and Health

Maintenance and Operations

Employee Relations

- DNS: City of Milwaukee Department of Neighborhood Services
- **DOA:** City of Milwaukee Department of Administration
- **DPW:** City of Milwaukee Department of Public Works
- **MCDOT:** Milwaukee County Department of Transportation
- MCP: Milwaukee County Parks Department
- MCTS: Milwaukee County Transit System
- MHD: City of Milwaukee Health Department
- MPD: City of Milwaukee Police Department
- MPS: Milwaukee Public Schools
- NIDs: Neighborhood Improvement Districts
- WisDOT: Wisconsin Department of Transportation



Provide consistent guidance to DPW staff for street design that improves the safety of all street users.

Description: Street design directly impacts how people travel and the safety of streets for people walking, biking, using transit, and driving. DPW lacks a preferred resource that guides the design of all street elements and prioritizes those walking, biking, taking transit, and finally, driving, in that order. Additionally, treatments that slow motor vehicle speeds and improve pedestrian safety should be included in all new street construction and reconstruction.

Rationale: Street design impacts all users. Motorist speeds and willingness to yield to people walking are heavily influenced by design, and the design of pedestrian crossings has a direct safety and accessibility effect on pedestrians. City staff does not have a single point of reference for street design that is focused on making streets safer for all users, nor a process for resolving conflicts between different sources of design guidance.

Actions

Endorse National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO) Design Guidance as the primary source for street design guidance.

Develop and adopt a Complete Streets Handbook that includes a process for reconciling differences in available design guidance.

Use the FHWA Safe Transportation for Every Pedestrian (STEP) program for enhanced crossings.

Provide regular staff training on adopted design guidance and current best practices for designing safe streets.

Partners

DPW, DCD



Rapid Implementation Projects

Most pedestrian safety enhancements require changes to existing streets and sidewalks, which can take years to design, fund, and construct. However, many of these projects can be tested on a interim basis in short amounts of time and at low cost by using cost effective materials to construct the project. Known as "rapid implementation," these projects can be quickly installed and provide opportunities to change the design of a street before more permanent facilities are installed.

For example, curb extensions are typically constructed by removing existing curb and constructing a new curb with a pedestrian area behind it. This process can be time consuming and expensive, particularly if sewer drains need to be relocated with the curb. However, curb extensions can also be constructed by painting the curb extension on the street and providing flexible posts where the new curb would be located. This temporary installation can be observed and adjusted as needed to ensure that it is achieving the project goals before a permanent curb extension is installed.

A wide variety of projects can be undertaken through rapid implementation, but the technique works particularly well to convert streets to places for people.



Action items with this icon can be implemented using Rapid Implementation practices.

Example of rapid implementation curb extensions installed using paint and flexible delineators



Systematically and proactively install pedestrian safety improvements.

Description: Many improvements for pedestrian safety are only installed when a larger street project is occurring. While this is a cost-effective way to improve pedestrian safety, it is also important to systematically and regularly install pedestrian safety improvements before serious crashes occur and as stand-alone projects.

Rationale: Pedestrian crash risk can be reduced by identifying street designs and specific locations that may lead to crashes or have a documented history of crashes. By implementing pedestrian safety improvements at potentially dangerous locations across the City, risks to people walking can be reduced.

Actions

Conduct annual walk-audits of the top ten streets on the Pedestrian High Injury Network and propose rapid implementation solutions to reduce crashes.

Apply for WisDOT safety funds for improvements along state highway corridors.

Reduce speed limits on prioritized streets to reduce the frequency and severity of crashes.

Implement a "quick reaction" team composed of key DPW and MPD staff to visit the site of severe and fatal pedestrian crashes and recommend short-term safety improvements after MPD's investigation.

Utilize the Pedestrian Safety Toolbox to select appropriate infrastructure improvements.

Make curb extensions and median islands a standard part of all construction and reconstruction projects in areas of high pedestrian activity including, but not limited to, schools, parks, senior centers, community centers, business districts, and major transit hubs.

Evaluate the effectiveness of the Neighborhood Traffic Management Program on slowing traffic and improving pedestrian safety. Expand the types of traffic calming treatments used throughout the City.

Design projects for a target speed and not a design speed.

Work with MCTS to optimize bus stop locations, including bus stop consolidation and relocating bus stops from near side to far side, where appropriate.

Partners

DPW, MPD



L)

L)

Median and Pedestrian Island Design

Medians and pedestrian islands provide a place of refuge for people crossing streets. This limits people's exposure to vehicle traffic and allows them to only cross one direction of traffic at a time. All medians and pedestrian islands should include a "nose" which extends past the crosswalk. This nose protects people waiting on the median and also

Example of medians without a protective "nose."



slows drivers turning across the median. Islands should be added to medians without noses (below left) to better protect people waiting on medians (below right). Median noses may include features such as bollards to provide additional protection to people waiting on the median.

Example of a retrofit median "nose" to better protect people walking.





Ċ

Ċ

Ċ

Provide rapid implementation of pedestrian safety improvements using cost effective materials.

Description: Pedestrian safety improvements do not need to be expensive or take years to design. Low-cost materials can be used to rapidly implement pedestrian safety improvements and test designs before more permanent improvements are made.

Rationale: Pedestrian safety projects can be quickly installed using paint and flexible delineators. This allows safety improvements to be rapidly deployed, without the additional time needed for permanent improvements. Rapid implementation also provides flexibility and can be adjusted as needed to address the original issue.

Actions

Use paint, flexible delineators, and other inexpensive materials to install interim or trial pedestrian safety improvements.

Gather data and evaluate the effectiveness of new pedestrian safety treatments through rapid implementation projects before installing more permanent solutions.

Identify and work with community partners (for example, Neighborhood Improvement Districts, Business Improvement Districts, business associations, neighborhood associations, etc.) to fund, evaluate, and maintain rapid implementation projects.

Establish a system to prioritize locations where pedestrian improvements are needed.

Establish an annual budget to carry out installation and evaluation of pedestrian improvements.

Partners

DPW, DCD

Improve pedestrian safety at signalized intersections



Description: Intersections with traffic signals are often the most obvious places for pedestrians to cross busy streets. Traffic signals and associated signs and markings should make crossing streets safe and comfortable for people walking. Specifically, intersection signal design and timing should be adapted to improve safety and comfort for pedestrians of all abilities.

Rationale: Signalized intersections have some of the highest numbers of pedestrian crashes in Milwaukee. People walking are particularly likely to be hit by drivers turning around a corner because the drivers may not notice pedestrians with enough time to stop safely. Signals in areas of high pedestrian activity should prioritize pedestrian movements, and signals in all parts of the City should provide enough crossing time for pedestrians.

Actions

Implement Leading Pedestrian Intervals (LPIs) in areas where many people walk, including, but not limited to, schools, parks, senior centers, community centers, business districts, and major transit hubs, and intersections where many drivers are turning right.

Consider implementing "No Turn on Red" restrictions where LPIs are installed.

Mark crosswalks and advance stop lines at all signalized intersections to reduce vehicle encroachment into crosswalks.

Ensure that pedestrian signals provide enough time for people walking to cross the street. Consider reducing typical walking speed assumptions to 2.8-3.0 feet per second as recommended by engineering guidelines, particularly in areas near schools, community centers, and senior housing.

Partners

DPW



Implement a citywide marked crosswalk policy and crosswalk safety countermeasures.

Description: Marked crosswalks and associated countermeasures can significantly improve pedestrian safety. While not all crosswalks need to be marked, the City should have a clear and consistent policy for when crosswalks are marked, the types of marking used, and when crosswalks require additional enhancements to improve safety.

Rationale: Marking crosswalks can improve pedestrian safety and improve crosswalk visibility for drivers. A comprehensive policy for marking crosswalks will help the City be consistent with where crosswalks and other pedestrian safety countermeasures are installed.

Actions

Develop criteria for determining where crosswalks should be marked using national best practices; criteria should indicate conditions where new marked crosswalks are not recommended without additional crossing enhancements. Establish a table and flowchart to simplify crosswalk placement and use of additional crossing enhancements.

Monitor the policy and process for the installation of decorative crosswalks and evaluate any benefits for improving conditions for walking.

Mark advanced stop and yield bars ahead of marked crosswalks throughout Milwaukee to indicate where drivers should stop at intersections.

Assess overhead lighting at marked crosswalks and improve lighting if necessary.

Partners: DPW

DPW



Crosswalk Marking Policy

The flowchart below should be used to determine when a crosswalk should be marked in Milwaukee and the type of markings to use.

Candidate Location Yes No 📥 Near a pedestrian No -Is the location Is there a Install transverse signalized? history of generator? crosswalk crashes? markings Yes. Yes, No Yes Adjacent to **Install high visibility Install high Install high** school or park? crosswalk markings visibility visibility crosswalk crosswalk on all legs markings markings No Yes 📥 Near a pedestrian Yes Does the crosswalk **Install high** cross an arterial or generator? visibility crosswalk collector street? No markings No Ves Is there a history of crashes? Install transverse crosswalk No markings No action



Crosswalk Marking Policy Notes

- All new marked crosswalks across streets of four lanes or more shall not be signed and marked only, but must include curb extensions, refuge islands, roadway reconfiguration, beacons, or signalization.
- Refer to the FHWA Guide for Improving Pedestrian Safety at Uncontrolled Crossing Locations for guidance on selection of additional crossing safety enhancements.
- Existing marked crosswalks that do not meet this guidance should not be removed, but should be considered for additional enhancement to meet the guidance.
- Major pedestrian generators include, but are not limited to, schools, parks, senior centers, community centers, business districts, and major transit hubs.

Standard City of Milwaukee crosswalk markings



Crosswalk Marking Maintenance

- · Continental crosswalks shall consist of 12-inch bars with 24-inch spacing.
- Stop bars shall be marked at all controlled locations where crosswalks are marked.
- DPW shall update the annual maintenance program for marking crosswalks on residential streets to ensure crosswalks near schools and parks are maintained. This update should consider the lifespan of pavement markings on low-volume streets to determine geographic zones throughout the City that are maintained on a regular basis (i.e. if pavement markings last three years, split the City into three zones and maintain one zone each year).
- DPW shall evaluate crosswalks on arterial and collector streets on an annual basis and refresh the markings as needed.
- All new or refreshed midblock crosswalks shall be marked with continental markings.



Integrate Vision Zero principles into Complete Streets policy implementation.



Description: Vision Zero is an international, multidisciplinary approach to reducing and eventually eliminating crashes that result in serious injuries and fatalities for all street users, including pedestrians. Vision Zero combines a variety of engineering, enforcement, education, and emergency response strategies to prioritize traffic safety. As noted in the City's Complete Streets policy, safety is imperative, with pedestrian safety having the highest priority. As the City works to implement its Complete Streets policy, Vision Zero principles and strategies will guide our efforts to make Milwaukee streets safe and enjoyable for all users.

Rationale: Crashes that result in serious injuries or fatalities are unacceptable and largely preventable. Eliminating these crashes on Milwaukee's streets means a comprehensive approach to traffic safety (with pedestrian safety being an important aspect). This bold, but achievable, goal will draw attention to the importance of eliminating traffic-related serious injuries and fatalities.

Actions

Develop clear timelines for reducing and eventually eliminating crashes that result in serious injury or death.

Include the pedestrian safety actions in this Plan for the pedestrian components of Vision Zero; add similar strategies for the other modes of travel.

Prioritize improvements that will address identified safety concerns and enhance safety for all street users, including infrastructure, education, enforcement, and encouragement programs.

Partners

DPW, MHD, MPD



Provide community-supported traffic enforcement and education to improve pedestrian safety.

Description: Traffic enforcement can improve safety for all street users and reduce dangerous driving behaviors. It is important to explain to the community why traffic enforcement is important, focus enforcement on behaviors most likely to result in serious crashes, and have support from the public for enforcement. Campaigns to educate the public through public service announcements, general outreach, and focused enforcement practices (such as crosswalk enforcement in a high-risk area) can improve the safety for everyone using City streets.

Rationale: Anecdotal reports and speed data indicate that illegal and dangerous driving behavior is commonplace in Milwaukee. High speeds, illegal passing, and failure to yield to pedestrians often results in serious and fatal crashes. Law enforcement agencies should continually target behaviors most likely to lead to serious crashes. Enforcement and education campaigns should be focused at locations with the highest rates of crashes and risky behaviors. This approach optimizes the limited resources that MPD has to spend on pedestrian safety campaigns.

Actions

Conduct targeted education and enforcement efforts in high crash corridors throughout the City.

Educate the public on the importance of traffic safety of all street users through PSAs, earned media, and community events.

Educate the public that it is illegal for adults to bicycle on sidewalks in Milwaukee and provide selective enforcement as necessary.

Record and summarize the effectiveness of enforcement efforts and share this information with the Common Council and community groups.

Partner with Milwaukee Public Schools to implement pedestrian safety education and to distribute information to parents.

Work with community partners to ensure education and enforcement is culturally appropriate.

Develop educational materials and identify opportunities to partner with the disability rights community as needed.

Continue to work with the Wisconsin DOT's Bureau of Transportation Safety for safety training and mini-grants for education and enforcement efforts directed at pedestrian safety.

Integrate education into enforcement actions by distributing pedestrian safety pamphlets with-or in place of-citations.

Seek authority to automate traffic enforcement.

Partners

MPD, DPW, WisDOT, MHD, MPS





Ensure accessibility for persons of all ages and abilities.

Description: A pedestrian network is not complete or inclusive if it is not accessible to people with disabilities. The public right of way should be barrier-free and easily accessed by all people, regardless of ability.

Rationale: Under Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act, most public entities are required to have a plan for how they will make public spaces accessible to people with disabilities. The City has made substantial efforts to make the pedestrian network more accessible, but the City does not have a formal transition plan guiding these efforts.

Actions

Finalize an ADA Transition Plan for the public right of way.

Develop a prioritization tool for the installation of Accessible Pedestrian Signals (APS).

Implement ADA-compliant curb ramps to the maximum extent feasible at all crosswalks citywide and ensure that all exceptions are comprehensively documented.

Use perpendicular curb ramps as the standard ramp design and ensure that all exceptions are comprehensively documented (see Curb Ramp Design sidebar).

Use durable (i.e. cast iron) detectable warning fields to minimize long-term maintenance.

Develop and maintain a database of all curb ramps, including locations and level of compliance with ADA.

Partners

DPW, DOA, DNS





Curb Ramp Design

Pedestrian curb ramps improve the accessibility of sidewalks and are required under the ADA. Curb ramps allow access by people using mobility devices, reduce tripping hazards, and make it easier for all people to use the sidewalk system. The two most common types of curb ramps are diagonal and perpendicular. Diagonal ramps are commonly found at the corners of intersections along the curve and often serve more than one crosswalk. Diagonal ramps are not preferred because they direct people to walk into the intersection away from the most direct path. Perpendicular

Example of a diagonal curb ramp



ramps are typically perpendicular to the street and direct people in the direction they wish to travel. Perpendicular curb ramps should be the standard design for all curb ramps as they better maintain a straight route for people walking and direct users into the crosswalk. When perpendicular ramps cannot be constructed due to design constraints, diagonal ramps are acceptable, but the justification for using a diagonal ramp shall be documented.

Example of a perpendicular curb ramp





Proactively address gaps in the sidewalk network.



Description: The City has an existing policy that sidewalks should be installed on both sides of all new and reconstructed streets. This policy should continue to be implemented, while existing gaps in the sidewalk network are also identified and completed.

Rationale: Sidewalks are a proven means of reducing pedestrian crashes. While the city has an excellent sidewalk network, gaps do exist. The best opportunity to fill these gaps is to construct sidewalks when new streets are built and existing streets are reconstructed. The City also needs the ability to address sidewalk gaps outside of a construction project.

Actions

Conduct an analysis to identify gaps in the sidewalk system and prioritize locations that need to be proactively addressed (as opposed to waiting for street reconstruction projects).

Provide additional funding for the area-wide sidewalk replacement program. Include funding for addressing gaps in the sidewalk system.

Collaborate with WisDOT, Milwaukee County Parks, and MCDOT to ensure that the City's policy of providing sidewalks on both sides of all streets is achieved.

Partners

DPW, MCP, MCDOT, WisDOT



Ensure clear pedestrian routes on sidewalks.

Description: For pedestrian routes to be accessible and usable, they must be free of obstructions. Construction detours, newspaper and vending boxes, utilities, and amenities such as sidewalk cafes, while often desirable, can create barriers on sidewalks. Current City efforts to maintain barrier-free sidewalk corridors should be continued and expanded, especially through construction zones.

Rationale: Short- and long-term closures of pedestrian routes for construction projects can have significant impacts on pedestrian accessibility and connectivity. This is particularly true when alternate pedestrian routes are not provided on the same side of the street and people walking are required to cross major streets. Additionally, new mobility systems, such as dockless bike share bikes, present new challenges to providing clear walkways. These obstructions are particularly problematic for people who are blind, have low vision, or use a wheelchair or other mobility device.

Actions

Require that accessible pedestrian routes are established and maintained through construction areas and work zones, regardless of the duration of obstruction.

Require temporary bus stops and alternative paths of travel that are accessible during construction detours.

Develop clear guidelines for temporary accommodations during construction. Prioritize these temporary accommodations over complete sidewalk closure.

Enforce the City's requirements that a pedestrian path be kept clear of obstructions, including newspaper and vending boxes, sidewalk cafes, etc.

Develop clear requirements for the placement of docked and dockless mobility systems.

Require that all entities (private or public) obstructing a sidewalk or path for more than 24 hours submit a formal plan to accommodate pedestrians through or around the work area.

Partners

DPW, DNS



Ensure that all transit stops are ADA compliant and are served by accessible routes.



Description: High-quality pedestrian access to transit stops should be a priority to ensure accessibility of the transit system.

Rationale: Transit in Milwaukee provides access to jobs, entertainment, recreation, retail areas, and services. Transit also reduces traffic congestion and expands choice in mobility. Nearly all transit trips begin and end with a walk. That walk should be pleasant, safe, and accessible for people of different abilities to ensure that transit is a viable and attractive transportation options for Milwaukeeans.

Actions

Develop policies and procedures to assess pedestrian access to all MCTS bus stops regarding safety, accessibility, and directness.

Prioritize the funding of pedestrian projects at heavily-used transit stops.

Construct ADA-compliant bus stop boarding areas during street reconstruction and as sidewalks are replaced or new sidewalks are built.

Prioritize pedestrian safety enhancements that also help transit function efficiently, such as curb extensions that also serve as bus boarding areas (see Chapter 5).

Partners

DPW, MCTS



Provide multiple ways for people to report pedestrian facility and accessibility issues.

Description: People who regularly walk are in the best position to report accessibility and maintenance issues to the City. Multiple means of reporting, including online and via phone, should continue to be available and updated as needed. All reported issues should continue to be digitally recorded and tracked through their resolution; any issues not addressed should include documentation of why the issue does not need to be addressed.

Rationale: Pedestrians are the first to notice most breakdowns in sidewalk accessibility (i.e. new tripping hazards). It should be easy for people to communicate these issues to City staff, and for staff to reply with how the issue will be addressed in a timely manner. Frequent reporting of issues, and correction of those issues by the City, can reduce liability as well as make the pedestrian network safer and more accessible.

Actions

Promote reporting of snow and ice issues, damaged sidewalks, and inaccessible transit stops via phone and electronic reporting.

Compile an annual report summarizing complaints and responses and providing metrics that track the efficiency of responses to complaints.

Partners

DPW, DOA Information & Technology Management Division





Support and encourage placemaking in neighborhoods throughout Milwaukee.



Description: Many City agencies and departments have a role in making Milwaukee's streets vibrant and attractive. These agencies and departments should ensure a high-quality pedestrian environment by supporting creative use of public spaces and the streetscape.

Rationale: Placemaking and streetscaping both refer to the design of streets, amenities provided along a street, and the overall attractiveness of the street. For example, providing decorative lighting, trees that shade the sidewalk, pocket parks, and sidewalk cafes all make neighborhoods and public spaces more desirable and walkable than streets that lack those features. Placemaking improvements in the public right-of-way, such as parklets and public art, contribute to an attractive streetscape environment, while also separating people walking from street traffic. These benefits make for a more attractive walking environment, can encourage people to walk more, and have positive health outcomes.

Actions

Provide street trees that will form a tree canopy along City streets whenever possible.

Provide seating for people in the public way in the form of benches, parklets, pocket parks, and other features.

Provide pedestrian wayfinding signs in areas of high pedestrian traffic, particularly tourist areas, to guide people to parks, museums, business districts, and other destinations.

Integrate art into pedestrian spaces, including intersections and crosswalks where appropriate, and work with community groups such as the City of Milwaukee Arts Board to identify opportunities for art in public and pedestrian spaces.

Identify street corridors that should be targeted for enhanced pedestrian design when the street is next reconstructed or when funding becomes available. These streets typically include commercial areas with high pedestrian volumes.

Create and improve quality connections to areas with many attractions—including the lakefront, county parks, parkway and trail systems, and commercial districts.

Review neighborhood and area-wide planning efforts—including the City's area plans and neighborhood-led quality of life plans—to ensure that plans address pedestrian needs and the goals of the Complete Streets policy.

Encourage and support the MPS's Safe Routes to School program as an element of placemaking and neighborhood enhancement.

Partners

DPW, DCD, MPS, MCP



Use streets and public spaces for programmed events.

Description: Support on-going events for streets, public spaces, and commercial spaces to encourage walking, placemaking, and vibrant neighborhoods. Events may include street fairs, neighborhood block parties, "open streets" events, and other activities.

Rationale: Streets and public spaces represent a large portion of Milwaukee. These spaces can be programmed for events that encourage walking, bicycling, and neighborhood vibrancy and highlight connections across neighborhoods.

Actions

Support temporary closure of residential streets for street or neighborhood events.

Sponsor Open Streets events that feature different neighborhoods throughout the City.

Support planned activities in public spaces such as recreational programs in parks.

Support formal and informal walking events through coordination with other departments and sponsorship.

Partner with neighborhood associations, Neighborhood Improvement Districts (NIDs), Business Improvement Districts (BIDs), business groups, and other community organizations to program new pedestrian spaces.

Train City staff and consultants on placemaking principles.

Partners

DPW, MCP, MHD, DCD





Maintain pedestrian facilities for safety and accessibility.



Description: Sidewalks, curb ramps, median islands and other pedestrian facilities require regular maintenance to ensure that they are in a good state of repair that allows access for all users and does not present hazards (such as tripping issues).

Rationale: Ongoing regular maintenance involves addressing tripping hazards on sidewalks, repairing damaged sidewalk sections, and evaluating the need for sidewalk replacements. By addressing small issues as they arise, major replacements of sidewalk can be avoided. This routine maintenance reduces or eliminates tripping hazards and decreases injury risk for people walking, all while reducing potential liability claims against the City. The existing area-wide sidewalk repair program addresses these issues but does not cover the entire City in a timely manner.

Actions

Ensure multiple ways of identifying and reporting sidewalk or crossing problems (online reporting, phone reporting, City staff identification).

Ensure that pedestrian facilities are never replaced with lesser facilities (i.e. replacing a 6-foot wide sidewalk with a 5-foot wide sidewalk).

Fund the area-wide sidewalk repair program to ensure that the condition of every sidewalk in the City is assessed at least every ten years, with repairs made as needed.

Expand the existing program of horizontal cutting to address minor tripping hazards on sidewalks.

Identify and fund any key gaps in the sidewalk system that must be prioritized for safety.

Partners

DPW



Maintain the pedestrian network for year-round access.

Description: Conduct day-to-day maintenance of sidewalks, curb ramps, and transit stops including sweeping, vegetation removal, and snow and ice removal, to ensure that the pedestrian network is safe and usable year-round.

Rationale: Adjacent property owners are relied upon to conduct day-to-day maintenance of sidewalks, curb ramps, and transit stops. The City ultimately has the responsibility to ensure that this work is performed, but under ordinance, has delegated that responsibility to property owners.

Actions

Educate property owners about their responsibilities for sidewalk maintenance, particularly snow removal.

Actively enforce sidewalk clearance rules for snow, ice, and other debris.

Train municipal drivers to watch and report sidewalks not cleared within 24 hours of snowfall.

Work with outside entities to clear sidewalks of snow, ice, and overgrown brush along vacant lots and other locations where there is not a clearly responsible adjacent property owner.

Encourage NIDs and BIDs to remove snow and perform other seasonal maintenance of sidewalks and curb ramps within their districts.

Prioritize sidewalk snow removal at City buildings.

Clear trails of snow, ice, and overgrown brush.

Identify transit stops, intersections, curb ramps, and median cut-throughs for priority snow and ice removal by City staff or contractors to ensure accessibility.

Partners

DPW, DNR, DCD, NIDs, BIDs, MCTS, MCP, WisDOT



Establish an annual funding source to implement pedestrian safety and traffic calming measures.



Description: Many pedestrian safety measures can be implemented as a part of street projects, but others will require a dedicated funding source to install safety and traffic calming actions as independent projects.

Rationale: A dedicated funding source and budget is required to systematically install pedestrian safety treatments. A consistent budget will allow staff to prioritize improvements from year to year and ensure timely project implementation. This funding source should not rely on assessing nearby property owners for the cost of treatments, which has the effect of prioritizing safety improvements in wealthier areas of the City.

Actions

Identify a dedicated funding source for pedestrian safety projects on an annual basis.

Allocate a portion of federal Surface Transportation Program funds for pedestrian infrastructure projects.

Prioritize projects that include pedestrian safety elements using existing funding sources.

Discontinue the practice of assessing nearby property owners for traffic calming improvements.

Partners

DPW, DOA



Case Study: City of Madison, Wisconsin Sidewalk Repair Program

The City of Madison has a comprehensive system for maintaining and expanding the sidewalk network. This sidewalk repair and replacement program has several components:

Revolving Sidewalk Repair Program: Each year two of the city's 20 aldermanic districts are targeted for sidewalk replacement. During the first year of the program, city staff walk all sidewalks in the designated districts and mark all cracked, heaved, or settled sidewalks for repair or replacement. Property owners are then notified of necessary repairs and the associated cost for the repair. In the second year, a contractor completes all of the repairs and replacements, while staff assess sidewalks in the next two selected districts. In this way, the program covers the entire city over a 10-year period. The city will identify the problem segments, hire a contractor, and pay for 50% of the replacement cost. The property owner has an option of hiring a contractor, but they will pay 100% of the costs under this arrangement.

Addressing Sidewalk Hazards: When sidewalk issues are reported and confirmed by city staff as being in need of repair, the city will either replace the sidewalks or, if possible, use a horizontal saw-cutting machine to level off a heaved sidewalk joint. The city will address these hazards in a timely fashion and generally not wait until the district-by-district repair program matches up with the district where the identified repair is located. Asphalt ramps (shims) are occasionally used to address trip hazards, but only as a temporary measure to eliminate the hazard until a permanent repair can be made. This component of the Madison program also includes sidewalk repair work requested by various city agencies (Streets, Water Utility, Parks, Parking Utility, and Traffic Engineering). The city will pay for 50% of the replacement cost, but will not assess costs to adjacent property owners for horizontal saw-cutting. **Replacement on Street Resurfacing and Reconstruction Projects:** Sidewalks that are in need of repair are included as part of street reconstruction projects and are replaced as part of the street project. The city will pay 50 percent of the costs to replace sidewalks in substandard condition. Sidewalks are also often replaced as part of street resurfacing projects when the street work involves sanitary and/or water services work. Some smaller segments of sidewalks may be replaced when curb ramps are replaced or added. If sidewalks are replaced to meet ADA accessibility standards, the city will pay for 100 percent of the costs.

Horizontal Cutting: Another aspect of the sidewalk repair program involves annual contracts with specialized contractors where raised sidewalk segments are cut down at the joint to eliminate tripping hazards. There is no cost to the adjacent property owner. These city-wide saw-cuts most often are done in response to the city's "report-a-problem" website or have been identified by city staff working on reconstructions or resurfacing projects outside of the designated districts for that year.

Funding Levels

2019 through 2024 – \$1,825,000 to \$2,326,000 per year without special assessments and \$2,810,000 to \$3,586,000 per year with special assessments included. This does not include funding of sidewalks tied to reconstruction projects. Costs associated with sidewalk replacement are rolled into the cost of the overall project.

Evaluate the staffing necessary to systematically improve pedestrian safety and access.



Description: Systematically improving pedestrian safety and access requires adequate staffing for a wide variety of tasks including planning, engineering, maintenance operations, snow removal, inspections, and other tasks.

Rationale: DPW staff currently carries out the tasks detailed above but may not have the time necessary to fully address the issues they face. This Plan also recommends new activities that will require additional staff time. Departmental roles and responsibilities should be evaluated to ensure that staff is allocated efficiently, with additional staff being added as necessary.

Actions

Provide additional inspectors to assess work zone pedestrian access and respond to maintenance complaints.

Provide additional staff to conduct the expanded area-wide sidewalk inspection program.

Provide additional maintenance staff for snow removal from pedestrian areas.

Provide additional staff to manage or prepare plans and studies and conduct data analysis.

Partners

DPW, DOA, DER



Use data about walking and the pedestrian network to evaluate and prioritize projects.

Description: Data about walking, pedestrian safety, and facilities should inform future pedestrian projects. This data may include pedestrian counts, a geospatial inventory of sidewalks, crosswalks, other pedestrian treatments and curb ramps; crash data, issues reported by the public, and other data associated with the pedestrian network. Once collected, data should be stored digitally and be readily accessible by staff and the public for analysis and to guide decisions.

Rationale: Substantial data about the pedestrian network is already collected, but it is not always readily accessible or analyzed to inform future projects. Additionally, data about key pieces of the pedestrian network and its use are not currently collected. Collecting and using data to support ongoing actions and to help with decision-making is critical to efficiently prioritize projects that improve pedestrian safety.

Actions

Collect speed data that can be used in project prioritization.

Require pedestrian and bicycle counts whenever staff or consultants are conducting motor vehicle counts. Consider collecting other data on travel behaviors whenever conducting counts.

Continue to collect and analyze crash data to help determine priorities and locations for pedestrian safety improvements. Work with MPD to improve the accuracy of crash data and completeness of crash reports.

Create an inventory and digital map of all pedestrian facilities in the City, with information on general conditions and ADA compliance.

Conduct annual pedestrian counts along the City's high-injury network.

Collect and analyze pedestrian count and crash data before and after project implementation to assess the effectiveness of projects.

Partners

DPW, MPD



Provide annual pedestrian safety training for City staff and encourage other fleet operators to provide similar training.

Description: All City staff who operate publicly-owned vehicles should undergo annual training in pedestrian safety, and, in particular, the requirement to yield to pedestrians. Other agencies and businesses operating large vehicle fleets in Milwaukee should be encouraged to provide similar training to their staffs.

Rationale: City, County, and other fleet operators, as well as transit drivers, represent a significant portion of day-to-day Milwaukee traffic and can serve as role models for safe driving behavior. It is important that staff undergo regular training on pedestrian laws to ensure they are knowledgeable about how to behave when driving near pedestrians.

Actions

Require annual pedestrian safety training for all City staff who drive a municipal vehicle.

Encourage annual pedestrian safety training for MCTS drivers.

Encourage annual pedestrian safety training for staff of agencies and businesses that operate large fleets in Milwaukee including Milwaukee County, We Energies, Waste Management and others.

Partners

DPW, MPD, MCTS, MCP, DER

